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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICE
' PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICKIE L. MILLER,
Complainant

L X X

V. Docket No., E-14454

OHEIO RUBBER COMPANY,
DIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER

e 48 48 b se %

Respondent

STIPULATION OF FACTS

The following facts are admitted by the parties and

- shall constitute the full evidentiary record in lieu of hearing

in the above-captioned matter:

1. The Complainant herein is Vickie L. Miller, an

:adult individual, who resides at R.D. #2, Linesville, Pennsylvania

1642k,

2. The Reépondent herein is Ohio Rubber Company, an

‘-=unlncorporated division of Eagle-Plcher Tndustries, Inc., an

'f?Ohlo corporation, ‘having & fa01llty located in Conneautv1lle,'
. Crawford County, Pennsylvania 16406, and is an employer of

! four or more persons within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

3. The Complainant, on or about August 23, 1978,

filed a notarized complaint with the Pennsylvania Human

. Relations Commission (hereinafter "Commission™) at Docket

No., E-li445L  alleging that Respondent had discriminated against




her and similarly situated females by denying them equal

;;disability payments for pregnancy related disabilities. A copy

i of the formal complaint is attached hereto as Appendix "A".

I, The Complaint was served upon Respondent on

| September 8, 1978.

5. In correspondence dated December 29, 1980, the
Commission notified the Respondent that an investigation had
been conducted and that probable cause to credit the allegations
of the complaint had been found.

6. Astempts to conciliate the complaint and obtain

relief for the Complainant and five other females employees -

© Patricia A. Henry, Connie Miller, Sharon H. Blood, Carol

! Hoagland and Judith Schneider - were unsuccessful.

7. On June 16, 1981 the Respondent was given notice

= that the Commission approved the case for public hearing.

8. TVickie L. Miller, Patricia A. Henry, Connie Miller,

' Sharon H. Blood, Carol Hoagland and Judith Schneider were

: employed by Respondent at all tlmes relevant hereto

, unit of the United Rubber, Cork, Linoleum and Plastic Workers of

gy ‘At all times relevant hereto Viekie L. Mlller,

Patricia A. Henry, Connie Mlller, Sharon H. Blood, Carol

! Hoagland and Judith Schneilder were members of the bargaining

America, Local Union Ne. 346, which union represented certain

. of Respondent's employees.

10. TFor the period February 24, 1578, to midnight
February 23, 1981, there was in effect between Respondent and
Tocal Union No. 346 a collective bargaining agreement and

supplemental insurance agreement (a copy of which is attached
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hereto as Exhibit 1) which established the terms, conditions

" and benefits applicable to the employment of Vickie L. Miller,

Connie Miller and Judith Schnelder.

10a., For the pericd PFebruary 24, 1975 to February 23,

11978 there was in effect between Respondent and Local Union

No. 346 a collective bargaining agreement and supplenental in-

surance agreement (a copy of which is attached hereto as

' Exhibit 2) which established the terms, conditions and benefits

i applicable to the employment of Patricia A. Henry, ShardﬁfH.

Blood and Carol Hoagland.

11. The agreements (Exhibit 1 and 2) limited payments

" for any one pregnancy related disability fo six (6) weeks while

2ll other disapbilities could be compensated up to a maximum of
twenty-six (26) weeks.

12. Respondent hasg provided to the Commission arlist‘

}gof employées to whom 1t paild disability,benefits_for reasons

f;other ﬁhan pregrnancy for-the'period August,l977'?'August 1978

2
|
f
|

;2 copy of which list is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

1L3.7 Viekié L. Miller's treatinéﬂphySicianfcértified her

i as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the pericd

| July 3, 1978 to April 2, 1979. However, Respondent pald her

only for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.00.
If “he Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful
discriminatery practice, Ms. Miller is entitled fo recelive an

additional $L500 in disability benefits.




14, Patricia A. Henfy's treating physician certified
her as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period
January 28, 1976 to Octobér 11, 1976. However, Respondent paid
her only for six (6) weeks of disébility in an amount of $450.00.
If the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful
discriminatory practice, Ms. Henry is entitled to receive an
additional $1500 in disability benefits.

15. Connie Miller's treating physician, certified her
as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period

July 10, 1978 to January 29, 1979. Respondent paid her only for

i 1is not seeking benefits for the period from July 10, 1978 to

??August 23, 1978 as Ms. Miller received unemployment benefits for

G that time. The Unemployment benefits were discontinued due to

‘:iMs,,Miller's hospitalizstion. If theVCOmmission_finds that Re-

. spondent engaged in an unlawful discriminatory practice, Ms.

CMiller is entitled to receive an additional $1200 in disability

i benefits.

P six (6) weeks of disability in anount of $450.00. The Commission

'VIS.V_Sharoﬁ H; BIood¢s“£feating,physician certified her

as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the perdiod
September 5, 1975 to November 10, 1975. Respondent paid her only

for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $420.00. If

j:the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful

discriminatory practice, Ms, Blood is entitled to receive an

additional 3170 in disability benefits.
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17. Carol Hoagland's treating physician certified her
as disabled fdr reasons related to pregnancy for the period
i May 10, 1976 to August 24, 1976. Respondent paid her only for
i gix €6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.00. If the

Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful dis-

;criminatory practice, Ms. Hoagland is entitled to recelve an
| additional $610 in disability benefits.
18. Judith Schneider's treating physician certified

!l her disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the perilod

I

ENovember 14, 13877 to August 7, 1978. Respondent paid her only
ifor six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $420.00., If
;ithe Commission finds that Respondent sngaged in an unlawful
i%discriminatory practice, Ms. Schneider is entitled to receive an

A
4 additional $1500 in disasbility benefits.

Ellen M. Doyle _ E _
Assistant General Counsel
Pa. Human Relations Commission

David Matthews

; Attorney for Respondent, Chio Rubber
J - Company, Division of Eagle-Picher

| Industries, Inc.




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

AND NOW, to wit this A& day or _/_.;éﬁﬁ , 1982,

tEllen M. Doyle, Assistant General Counsel,égennsylvania Human

i

1

iRelatlons Commission, hereby certify that I this day served the
'}Stlpulation of Facts by depositing same in the U.S. Mail,
i1postage prepaid, at Pittsburgh, PA in accordance with the

H

‘requirements of 1 Pa. Code §33.32 (relating to service by a

gpartic1pant) addressed %to:
" David W. Matthews, Esq.

3 Eagle-Picher Industries, Inec.
} ‘ Cincinnati, Ohio 45201

WA JAY
Ellen M. Doyle
Assistant General Counsel
Pa. Human Relations Commission
11th Floor State Office Building
300 Liberty Avenue
Pittsburgh, PA 15222
(412) 565= 7979 :

fSWORN TO and subserived
=bef0”e me this /QQ%f&. day

| - _
|of Le ton OF , 1982,
* %

s - O -
s 54’&%—&

< NOTARY PUELIC

MARIE ), KOLLER, NOTARY PUBLID
PITTSBURGH, ALLEGHENY LOUNTY
MY CORMISSION EXPIRES NOY. 28, ;285
Member, Pennsvivania Association of Nutaries




CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Complainant Vickie L. Miller is an adult individual
residing at R.D. #2, Linesville, PA., 164214, and.an "employee"
within the meaning of the Act.

2. Respondent Chio Rubber Company, an unincorporated
division of Eagle—Picher Industries (an Ohilo corporation),
which has a facility at Conneautville, Crawford County, PA.,
16406, is an "employer" within the meaning of the Act.

3. The Pernnsylvania Human Relations Commission has
jurisdiction over the partiles and subject matter of this
action. |

L. The parties and the Commission have complied with
all procedural prerequisites to a public hearing in this
matter.

5. Bespondent‘é admitted policy of’treating temporary

_disability relating to pregnancy in a-different mariner from

any other femporary alsablllty constitutes sex discrimination

_p;ln v1olat10n of Sectlon S(a) of the Act.»'

6{ Respondent is not insulated from llablllty for its

"discriminatory disability plan by the "bona fide group or

insurance plan" exclusion of Section 5(a)(3) of the Act.

7. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 does not preempt the Human Relations Act inscofar as the
latter prohibits discrimination in the fterms of a plan

subject to ERISA.
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8. The employee benefit plan here challenged is sub-
ject to'thé provisions of ERISA.

9., The Commission is empowered to award back pay
relief, with interest, including lost dlsability benefits
following a finding that an unlawful discriminatory practice
has occurred.

13. The Commission may award relief to persons other
than the named complalnant where it is alleged that other
persons were affected by the practice complained of and such
other persons may be described with specificity.

11. The Commission may order relief tc properly described
class members who were Injured by a continuing discriminatory
policy, where such injury occurred more than ninety days and

within three years prior to the filing of a complaint.




OPINION

This case arises on a complaint filed by Vickie‘L.
Miller ("Complainant™) against the Ohio Rubber Co., Division
of Eagle - Picher Industries, Incorpﬁrated ("Respondent™)
with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission ("Commission")
on August 28, 1678. Complainant alleged that Respondenﬁ dis-
criminated against her and other similarly siguated females
because of their sex by denying them full accident-and sickness
benefits for disabilities related to pregnancy, by limiting
benefit payments for disabilities related to pregnancy tc a
period of six weeks for any given pregnancy. I¥ was alleged

that this practice violated Section 5(a) of the Pennsylvania

- Human Relations Act, Act of October 27, 1955, as amended,

43 P.S. 951 et seq. ("Act™).

An investigation was conductéd into the allegatidns

il of the complaint by Commission staff, who determined that

' probable cause existed to credit the allegations. The

Commission attempted to eliminate the practices complained
of by conference,_conciliation, and persuasion. When these
efforts were unsuccessful the case was approved for public
hearing. |

At a pre-hearing conference held on March 23, 1982,
the partlies agreed to stipulate to all facts and exhibits
in lieu of public hearing. A stipulation cf facts with
exhibits was executed by Ellen Doyle, Esquire, Assistant
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General Counsel, on behalf of Complainant, and David W.
Matthews, Esguire, on behalf of Respondent. Briefs were

submitted by both parties.

The Hearing Panel originally assigned to thisfease
included Commissioners Elizabeth Scott, Chairperson, John
Wisniewski, and Mary Dennis Donovan. Following Commissioner
Donovan's resignation from the Commission, Commissiconer Rita
Clark wes assigned to replace her on the panel. Edith E.
Cox, Esquire, Assistant General Counsel, served as legal

advisor to the panel.

The facts to which the parties stipulated constitute
the entire evidentiliary record in this case, and are incorporated
herein as the Commission's complete Findings of Fact. OQur

decision requires resolution of four disputed legal issues:

1. Wnhether limitation of the benefits available
for pregnancy-related disability, when bene-
fits available for other disabilities are not
so limited, constitutes discrimination on the
basgis of sex in violation of the Act,

2. Whether the exclusion section of Section 5

(2)(3) of the Act insulates Respondent from
,llablllty in thls matter,

3. Whether the federal Employee Retlrenent
Income Security Act of 1974, 25 U.S.C. §1144
{"ERISA") preempts the Act insofar as the
Act prohibits discrimination in the terms

of a benefit plan subject to the provisions
of ERISA;

4, Whether the Commission may order relief for
members of the class of women who suffered
a loss of benefits more than ninety days
but less than three years prior to the filing
of Ms. Miller's complaint.




A. Section 5(a) of the Act provides in relevant part that:
| It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice...
(a) For any employer because of the ... sex ... of
any individual fo ... diseriminate against such
individual with respect to compensation, hire,

tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employ-
ment. * *

While acknowledging that its benefit plan treated
pregnancy in a different manner than any other disability
(S.F. 11), Respondent asserts that such treatment is not sex
disecrimination prohibited by the cited provision. Reliance

is placed on General Flectric v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125 (19768),

which held that discrimination based on pregnancy was not sex
discrimination prohibited by Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights
Act.

The unpersuasive reasoning of Gilbert was expressly

rejected by Pennsylvania's Commonwealth Court in Anderson v.

Upper Bucks County Area Vocational Technical 3School, 373 A.2d

130 (1977). The court there held thaﬁ refusal tQ.allow a
female emploﬁee to apply accumulated sick leave to the:total
time she was absent as a result of pregnancy violated Seétion
5(2) of the Act. E .
:'In:supbért‘bf its decision, the court referred to a
pre-Gilbert decision of the Pennsylvanla Supreme Court,

Cerra v. East Stroudsburg Area School District, 299 A.24 é??

{(1973), which held that a school district regulation reguir-
ing pregnant fteachers to resign at the end of their fifth
month of pregnhnancy was "sex discrimination pure and simple™.
229 A.24 at 280. The Anderson court noted as well that all

8ix federal Circult Courts of Appeals which addressed the
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issue prior to Gilbert found that exclusion of pregnancy
related disability from a disabiiity plan violated Title VII.
Finally, the Anderson court relied on regulations

passed by‘this Commission in 1975 which require employers to

treat disability due to pregnancy on the same terms and

conditions as any other temporary disability. 16 Pa. Code
§41.103(a). |

As the Anderson court noted, Sections 2000e-7 and
2000h-4 of Title VII expressly provide that state laws
defining discrimination more comprehensively than the Civil
Rights Act of 1964 are not preempted or superseded by Title
VII. 373 A.28 at 130.

We therefore conclude that Respondent, by limiting
the‘disability benefits available to pregnant women wnhile
net limiting benefits for other ftemporary disabilities,

violated Sectioni5(a):of the Act.

' B. Section 5(a}(3),of the Act providés that ™"(%)the

provisions'of this_paragraph shall not apply to...(3) opera-

I}’ tion of the terms or conditions of any bona fide. group .or

employe -insurance plan.".

Respondent argues that even if it iIs found
to have discriminated against complainant, the -
cited passage insulates it from liability. This
argument has also been rejected by a Pemsylvania
Court.

In Lukus v. Westinghouse Electric Corporation, 419 A.24 431

(Pa. Super. 1980), the identical argument was advanced by
Westinghouse and rejected by the Court. Finding that Section
5(z)(3) was enacted %to separate the jurisdictional realms of
the Commission and Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioners,

Superior Court held:
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Section 955(a)(3) ensures that discriminatory
practices by insurance companies will be re-
gulated by the agency with broad oversight of
the insursnce industry, and that employers
will not be held responsible for those )
practices under the PHRA, which governs rela-
tions between employers and employees, not
third parties... Nothing in Section 955(a)(3)
sugegests that by enacting it, the Legislature
intended to relieve an employer of legal
responsbility for employment decisions that
restrict the availability of insurance benefits
on equal terms to all its employees.
Id. at 446

We therefore find that Section 5(a)(3) of the Act does
not insulate Respondent from liability for 1ts violation of

the Ac<t.

C. Section 514(a) of ERISA provides in relevant part:
«..(TYhe provisions of this subchapter and
subschapter IIT of this chapter shall supersede

any and all state laws insofar as they may now
or hereafter relate to any employee benefit plan...

‘ 29 U.8.C. §11b44{a)
Section 514(d) provides: | -
_ Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed -
to alter, amend, medify, invalidate, impair, or-
supersede any. law of The United 3tates... or any
rule or regulatlon issued under‘any‘such law
The partles v1@orously dlsmute the effecn of tbese
sections upon the facts of this case. The appllcablllty of
ERISA to Respondent's disability plan is not disputed.
Preliminarily, we find that the plan is subject to the pfo-
visions of ERISA.
29 U.S.C. §1002(1) provides:
The terms "employee welfare bhenefit plan”
and "welfare plan" mean any plan, fund or pro-

gram which was heretofore or is nereafter
established or maintzined by an employer or

-12+




by an employee organization, or by both, to

the extent that such plan, fund or program was
established or is maintained for the purpose
of providing for its participants or their
beneficiaries, through the purchase of insurance
or otherwise, (A) medical, surgical, or hospital
care or benefits, or benefits in the event of

sickness, accident, disability, death or unemploy-
ment... '

29 U.S.C. §1003 provides in part:

{a) Except [as otherwise provided], this
subchapter shall apply to any employee benefil
plan if it is established or maintained -

(1) by any employer engaged in commerce
of in any industry or activity affecling
commerce; or

(2) vy any employee organization or
organizations representing employees
engaged in commerce or in any industry or
activity affecting commerce; or

(3). by both.

The parties have stipulated (S.F. 10, 10a) that the !
benefits here at issue were established by a collective bargain—§
ing agreement and supplemental insurance agreement between

Respondent and the United Rubber, Cork, Linoleim and Plastic

Workers of America, Loczl Union No. 346.

Having determined that ERISA is applicable to the

benefit plan challenged here, we mustrdetermine_whether-ERISA

 preempts thé Act insofar as the latter prohibits discrimination

in the provisions of employee benefit plans.
Pennsylvania's Supreme Court has not decided This issue.

Tn Lukus v. Westinghouse, supra, Superior Court found that

TRISA did not preempt the Act's regulation of Westinghouse's
employee disability plan. Subseguently, Commonwealth Court

reached a2 contrary conclusion in Internaticnal Ladies'

Garment Workers' Union v. Allentown Human Relations Commission,

-13-




53 Pa. Cmwlth. 229, 417 A.2d 1279 (1980). The Supreme Court

denied allocatur in EEEEE on June 1, 1980; a petition for
allowance of appeal was granted in ;;gﬂg but the appeal was
discontiqued by agreement of the parties.

Appeals from final orders of this Commission lie with
Commonwealth Court. In the absence of controlling decisions
by a higher court we are of course bound by Commonwealth
Court's rulings. However, in this instance we find that
decisions of the United States Surpeme Court prbhibit us
from following the Commaonwealth Court decision in ;Lgﬂg.

In two recent cases, the United States Supreme Court

has dismissed appeals, for want of a substantial federal

‘question, from state supreme court decisions holding that

state laws prohibiting pregnancy discrimination in the

provision of employee disability benefits were not preempted

'by'ERISA.' Minnesota Mining & Manufacturing Co. v. Minnesota,

44l U.S. 1041 (1980), dismissing appeal from 289 N.W.2d 396

C(Minn. 1979); Mountéin States.Telephoné and Téiegranh Co. v.

Comm1531oner of Labor and Industry, 445 U. S 921 (1980),

o dlsm1551ng'anneal from 608 P. 2d lOQT (Mont 1979) " These

summary dismissals may not be 1gnored. Each 1nvolved the
Court's exercise of its obligatory appellate jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. 1257(2); in the absence of further enlighten-

ment from the Court, they stand as decisions on the merits

of the federal guestions presented to the Court aznd necessarily

decided by it in disposing of the appeal. Mandel v. Bradley,

432 U.S. 173 (1977) (per curiam). They are consequently
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binding upon lower courts until such time as the Supreme

Court indicates, éxpressly or by way of doctrinal developments,

that the dismissal may no longer be followed. Hicks v.

Miranda, 422 U.S. 332 (1975). It is noteworthy that, while

Commonwealth Court's decision in ILGWU followed the summary

dismissals in Minnesota and Mountain States, that decision

does nect decilde the effect of those summary dismissals upon

lower tribunals.

Minnesota and Mountain States have not been expressly
cverruled by the United States Supreme Court. The second
Circult Court of Appeals has however found that they are
deprived of precedental value by an intervening Suprenmne

Court decision. In Delta Airlines, Inc. v. Kramarsky, 666

F.2d 21 (24 Cir. 1980), appeal docketed U.3.

50 U.3.L.W. 3717 (February 22, 1582) (No. 81-1578), the

Second Circuit held that Mountain States and Minnesota were

deprived of precedertal Weight by Alessi v. Raybestos-

Manhattan, Inc., U451 U.S. 504 (1981). A number of factors

persuade. us that Alessi should not be so interpreted, and

g Ehat‘we“Cdnbinue*tdfbefbcﬁnd'by the summary dismissals in

Minnesota and Mountain States.

. Alessi did not deal with the effect of EZRISA upon
state fair employment legislation, as did Minnesota and

Mountain State. Alessi found that ERISA preempted New

Jersey legislation which eliminated one method of calculating
pension benefits - integration - that federal law permitted.

451 U.S. at 514-517. Before holding fthat the New Jersey
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statute was preempteé, the Court explicitly held that the
subject matter in question (integration of pénsion benefits
with workers' compensation benefits) was regulated by ERISA.
New Jersey had thus impermissibly attempted to regulate an
area of direct concern to ERISA.

On the other hand, ERISA 1is silent on the subject of
discerimination. State fair employment statutes such as

those at issue in Minnesota, Mountain States, and the instant

"case, do not have the same relationship tc ERISA as did the
New Jersey statute in Alessi. We conseguently conclude that
the "doctrinal development" of Alessi is not sufficlentliy
clear to overcome %the unquestionably binding precedent of

Minnesota and Mountain States.

Further, we note that the Supreme Court has agreed fo
hear the appeal from the 3econd Circuif's decision in

- Kramarsky, supra (probable jurisdiction noted, 50 U.S.L.W.

3831, April 20, 1982), drawing into question that Court's
interpretation of.Alessi.

Finally, Alessi did not address the interaction of
 Sections 514(a) and SI4(d) of ERISA, cited sbove. The New -
‘Jersey statute there invalidated was not expressly proftected
by a federal statute. State fair employment laws, by con-
trast, are specifically preserved by Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1664, 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq., §§2000e-7,
2000h-k.

Therefore, in the absence of clarification from elther

the United States Supreme Court or a Pennsylvanila appellate
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eourt, we believe that we continue to be bound by the summary

- dismissals in Minnesota and Mountain States. We consequently

find that ERISA does not preempt the Act insofar as the Act
prohibits discrimination in the provision of employee dis-

ability benefits.

D. When it finds that an unlawful discriminatory practice

has occured, the Commission is empowered by Section § of the

Act to order "such affirmative action including but not limifed

to...backpay...as, in the judgment of the Commission, will
effectuate the purposes of this act..." 43 P.S. 955. A back
pay award ﬁeed not be lost earnings, but may include lost

benefits such as disability pay. West Middlesex Area School

Distriect v. PHRC, Pa. Cmwlth., 394 A.2d4 1301 at 1304 (1978).

Back pay liability may acerue for no more than three years
prlor to the filing of a comnlalnt. H3 P.3. 962(c).

The partles have stlpulated that Ms. Miller's complaint

was flled on August 23, 1878 (S.F. No. 3),_and‘that'the'policy
challenged by her was in effect for over three years prior to
the flllng of her complalnt (S I No lO lOa 11}. It‘iS{  o

'further atlpulated that Ms. Mlller and flve other named

individuals, by operation of the policy,‘recelved dlsabllity

benefits for a six week pericd when they were disabled for

reasons related to pregnancy, although in each case a treating

physician certified that the period of actual disability was
longer than six weeks; each identified instance occurred
during the three year period preceding the filing of Ms.

Miller's complaint. = (S.7. No. 13, 14, 15, 186, 17, 18).

~17-
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Complainant urges that each of these named individuals 1s
entitled to relief; Respondent, citing the Act's 90 day
filing period, argues that clalms which arose more than
ninety days prior to Ms. Miller's filing are time barred.
Having determined that the challenged policy violated the
Act, we must decide whether relief may be ordered for members
of a class of women who suffered a loss of benefits more tThan
ninety days but less than three years prior to the filing of
Ms. Miller's complaint.

It is beyond question that relief may be ordered for

persons other than the named complainant. In PHRC v. Free-

port Area School District, 350 A.2d 721 (1876) Pennsylvania’s

Supreme Court approved an award of relief for such person

Wwhere:

(1) the complainant alleges that such other

persons have been affected by the alleged dis-

- . eriminatory practice and (2) such other persons
entitled to relief may be described with

specificity.. 350 £.2d at 728_
Those conditions have been met in this case.
We flnd as well that the challenged pollcy constituted
a eonstant state of affalrs whlch began at least ln February-
of 1975 and continued unabated into the filing period. The
CommlsSLOn s regulations provide:

The complaint shall be filed within 90 days
from the date of the occcurrence of the alleged
unlawful diseriminatery practice. If the alleged
wlawful discriminatory practice is of a continu-
ing nature, the date of the occurrence of such
practice shall be deemed to be any date subsequent
to the occcurrence of such practice up to and
including the date upon which the uniawful dis-—
criminatory practice shall have ceased.

16 Pa. Code §42.11(a)
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The complaint in this matter may thus properly challenge
applications of Respondent's discriminatory policy where the
applications occured more than ninety days prior to filing
but during the period of the policy's continuing effect;
persons similarly affected by the policy are entitled to

relief where, as here, the conditions of Freeport, supra.,

are met.

Numerous decisions interpreting Title VII of the Civil

Rights Act of 1964, the federal analogue to the Act (General

Electric v. PHRC, Pa., 365 A.2d4 649 at 654, 1976), support

this construction of the Act and the validity of the cited

regulation. In Satz v. ITT Financial Corp., 619 F.2d4 738,

8th Cir. 1980, the Eighth Circuit reversed a dismisszal for
untimeliness of a complaint alleging that the charging party
and similarly situated {emales were denied equal pay and
cpportunities for advancement.. The Court there emphasized
that the relevant inquiry 1is whether-there-has been a
continuously maintained illegal policy with an instance of
appllcatlon of the pollcy Wlthln the flllng perlod. 1d.

at 7&& | The Court further found that "...the allecation of

~a presently maintained pollcy of dlscrlmlnat;on may state a

claim under Title VII saven if the last speclfic act pursuant
to that policy occurred [prior to the filing periocd]”. EQ-:

citing Bethel v. Jendoco Construction Co., 570 F.2d 1168,

1174-75 (3¢ Cir. 1978). SEE ALSO: Acha v. Beame, 570 F.2d

57 (24 Cir. 1978) and Laffey v. Northwest Airlines, Inc

hi

567 F.2d 429 (D.C. Cir. 1975), cert. den. 434 U.S. 1086 (1978).




A continuing violation allegation determined the scope

of the class in Wetzel v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 508

F.2d 239 (34 Cir. 1975). The Court there rejected the
company's attempt fo limit the class and approved a class
excluding only women who had left the company's employ more
than 210 days pefore the EEOC charge was filed. The Court
reasoned that the complaint had alleged maintenance of dis-
criminatory policies up to the time of?filing, policies which
were continuing violations of Title VII and would permit
filing of charges at any time by-present'employees.
Therefore, and consistently with our opinion in tiner

v. PPG Industries, Tnc., E-10702 and E-12471, we find that

we may order relief for those women who lost benefits as a
result of Respondent's unlawful discfiminatory policy more
than ninety days but less than three years prior to the

filing-éﬁ Ms. Miller's_éomplaint.‘ The parties -have

stipuiated to the amounts lost"by-eachjof thé womer previously

identified. Relief shall therefore be provided for.thoseg

women as specified in the Order which follows.
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICES

PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICXIE L. MILLER,
Complainant

vs'

OHIO .RUBBER CCMPANY,
DIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER
INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent

ta 8 2% en

DOCKET NO. E-14454

e 48 s

RECOMMENDATICN OF HEARING PANEﬂ

Upon consideration of the full record in this matter,

the Hearing Panel recommends'that thelattacheanindings of

Fact, Conclusions of Law, Opinion, and Order be adopted and

January 24,

. entered by the full.Benﬁsylvania Human Relatlons Comm;ssionﬁ ‘

DATE

January 24

. = ' . L / '—-?L 7 . - :
1983 . - i(_/(i . / L / K ’i: .' "i #//a :r.— : [
- ELIZABE H M. SCOTT Chalrperson'
~~ . . i"' . )
5-f,' '”Jf//— _
1983 DRI LR S

DATE

January 24

J OHN WISNILWSKI Comm1551oner

- -‘\ .
f N

1983 T T s KA

DATE

RITE CLARK, Commissioner




P

3

-

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICES
PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICKIE L. MILLER,
‘ Complainant

e ev se

vS. DOCKET NO. E-14454

LY S Y ]

OHTIO RUBBER COMPANY,
DIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER
INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent f

[T Y

FINAL ORDER

AND NOW, this 2nd  day of February , 1983, the

Pennsylvania Human Relations-Commission~héreby adopts the
foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions ofiLawa.and Opinion,

in accordance with the Recommendation of the Hearing Panel,

- and therefore.

o RDERSE
1. That Resﬁondéht Qﬁio.Rubbér”Gé; cease ahd desist
from discriminating on the basis of sex in thé-provision of
employee disability benefits; . |
2. That Respondent pay to each of the following
individuals the amount designated following the individual's
name, plus interest of six per cent (6%) per annum, calculated

from the last day of each individual's disability leave as

e e A - EETRGEINE
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specified in the Stipulations of Fact:

a. Viekie L. Miller

$1500.00
b. Patricia A. Henry .- 1500.00
c. Connie Miller - 1200.00
d. Sharon H. Blood - 170.00
e, Carol Hoagland - 610.00
f. Judith Schneider -  1500.00
Payment shall be by check payable to each individual and
delivered in care of Michael Foreman, Esquire, Assistant
General Counsel, Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission,
1l1th Floor, State Office Bullding, 30d'Liberty Avenue,
Pittsburgh, PA 15222. '
3. That Respondent provide the[Commiésion with satis-

factory written proof of compliance With the terms of this

Qrder within thirty days of the date foqnd on the Order.

. PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

f

o4 0,

S N B T
-JO3EPH X. YAFFEnghairperson

Lo : L7 lj.*",- : .
Lo . . - 4 . 2 s - .
o R /)/ N Pc \#—-7&
A -L;f(wxé,/ /x £l tF

'EiizAB%mH'M. SCOTT, Secretary




i COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
l EXECUTIVE OFFICE
I PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

| VICKIE L. MILLER, :

? Complainant :
d v. : Docket No. E-14454
E.OHIO RUBBER COMPANY, :

}iDIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER
. INDUSTRIES, INC.,
i Respondent

a8 su %

STIPULATICN OF FACTS

The following facts are admitted by the parties and.
shdll constitute the full evidentiary record in lieu of hearing
in the abovewcaptioned matter:

1. The Complainant herein is Viekie L. Miller, an
Eiadult individual, who resides at R.D. #2, Linesville, Pennsylvania
16424, |

2. The Respondent herein is Ohio Rubber Company, an

unincorporated diviéign of Eagle-Picher Industries; Inc., an
rOhid ?otporation, héving a facility located in-CénneautVilié;
| crawford County, Pennsylvania 16406, and is an employer of

l
l

igfour cr more persons within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
|

3. The Complainant, on or about August 23, 1978,
filed a notarized complaint with the Pennsylvania Human
‘ Relations Commission (hereinafter "Commission") at Docke?t

No. E-14U454, glleging that Respondent had discriminated against




Esher.and similarly situated females by denying them equal
¢ disability payments for pregnancy related disabilities. A copy

of the formal complaint is attached heretc as Appendix "A"™.

4, The Complaint was served upon Respondent on

@ September 8§, 1978.
5. In correspondence dated December 29, 1980, the
Commission notified the Respondent that an investigation had

i been conducted and that probable cause to credit the allegations

i of the complaint had been found,

ji 6. Attempts to conciliate the complaint and obtain
i relief for the Complainent and five other females employees -
Patricia A. Henry, Connie Mliller,. Sharon H. Blood, Carocl E
i Hoagland and Judith Schnemder - were unsueeessful.

T. On*June 16, 1981 the Respondent was given notice
1§that the Commission approved The case.for public hearing.

| 8., Vickie L. Miller, Pafricia A, Henfy,;Connie Miller,
Sharon H. Blood, Carocl Hoagland and Judith‘Schneider were

employed by Respondent at all tlmes relevant hereto.

- -9. At all tlmes relevant hereto Vlele L. Miller,
Petrioia A, Henry, Connie Miller, Sharon H. Blood, Carol

Hoagland and Judith Schneider were members of the bargaining

unit of the United Rubber, Cork, Lincleum and Plastic Workers of

f America, Local Union No. 346, which union represented certain
- of Respondent's employees.
10. For the period February 24, 1978, to midnighﬂ
February 23, 1981, there was in effect between Respondent and E
Local Union No. 346 a ccollective bargaining agreement and

supplemental insurance agreement (a copy of which is attached




%%héfétc as Exhibit 1) which established the terms, conditions
igand benefits applicable to the employment of Vickie L. Miller{
! Connie Miller and Judith Schneider.
10a. For the period February 24, 1975 to February 23,
411978 there was in effect between Respondent and Local Union
S No. 346 a collective bargaining agreement and supplenental in-
i surance agreement (a copy of which is attached hereto as
i Exhibit 2) which established the fterms, conditions and benefits
i applicable to the employment of Patricia A, Henry, Sharon H.
i Bleod and Carcl Hoagland.
11. The agreements (Exhibit 1 and 2) limited payments
! for any cne pregﬁancy related disability to six (6) weeks while
all other disabilities could be compensated up to a maximum of
twenty-six (26) weeks.

12, Réspondent hasiprovided to the Commission a list
. of employees to.whom it paid'disability benefits for reasons
:éother'than pregnancy for the period August 1977 - August 1978

1 a copy of which 1list is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

i as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period

|
?}July 3, 1678 to April 2, 1979. However, Respondent paid her
il

! only for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.,00.
i

1 If the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful
.jdiscriminatory practice, Ms. Miller 1s entitled to recelve an

additional $1L500 in disability benefits.

it 7 - 13. Vickle L. Millér's treating physiéian cértifiéd her




14, Patricia A. Henry's treating physician certified

;fher as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period

nganuary 28, 1976 to Oetober 11, 1976. However, Respondent ﬁaid
;'her only for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.OO.g
ééIf the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful
é%discriminatory practice, Ms. Henry is entitled to receive an

| additional $1500 in disability benefits.

15, Connie Miller's treating physician, certified her
é;as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period E
.%July 10, 1978 to January 29, 1979. Respondent paid her only for
i?six (6) weeks of disability in anount of $450.00. The Commission
;éis not seeking beneflts for the period from July 10, 1978 to ‘
{%August 23, 1978 as Ms. Miller received unemployment benefits for
é%that time. The Unemployment benéfits.were discontinued due to
Est. Miller's hQspitalization.  Ir the‘Commission_finds that Re-

. spondent engaged in an uhlawfui:diséfiminatory practice, Ms.

S Miller is entitléd to receive an additional $1200 in disébility
gébenefits. | | _

|  ;16r,:Sha:Qn H; Bl§d§1s_tﬁéatihg;physician éertified her -
%%as disabled for reasons reiétea ﬁo pregnancy for the period

i September 5, 1975 fto November 10, 1975. Respondent paid her only
éifor six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $L420.00. If

?ithe Commissidn finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful
;édiscriminatory practice, Ms. Biccd is entitled to receive an

additional $170 in disability benefits.




17. Carol Hoagland's treating physician certified her
as disalbled for reasons related to preghnancy for the period
May 10, 1976 to August 24, 1976. Respondent paid her only for
six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.00. If the
Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful dis-
criminatory practice, Ms. Hoagland is entitled to receive an
additional $610 in disability benefits.

18. Judith Schneider's treating.physician certified

i her disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period

., November 14, 1977 to August 7, 1978. Respondent paid her only
© for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $420.00., If

“ the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful

i diseriminatory practice, Ms. Schneider is entitled to receive an

additicnal $1500 in disability benefits.

M\
Ellen M, Doyle
Assistant General Counsel
Pa. Human Relations Commission

David Matthews

Attorney for Respondent, Chlo Rubber
Company, Division of Eagle-Picher
Industries, Inc.




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| AND NOW, to wit this /44 day of _/(_;_e'ﬁzg , 1982,

A
i Ellen M. Doyle, Assistant General Counsel,éﬁennsylvania Human

‘ Relations Commission, hereby certify that I this day served the
|

1 Stipulation of Facts by depositing same in the U.S. Mail,

i
ﬁpostage prepaid, at Pittsburgh, PA in accordance with the
!
i

“requirements of 1 Pa. Code §33.32 (relating to service by a

gparticipant) addressed %o:
i David W. Matthews, Esq.

1 Eagle~Picher Industries, Inc.
P.0O. Box 779

Cineinnati, Ohioc k5201

o W Sy U
Ellen M. Doyle '
Assistant General Counsel
Pa. Human Relations Commission
; llth Floor State Office Building
g ' 300 Liberty Avenue
‘d Pittsburgh, PA 15222
(412) 565-7979 :

it
Vi

)
1
H
5
'é
)
1

G SWORN TO and subscribed
before me this /¥ day

lor Lo fo OF , 1982,

z v

2 ?;/‘7 ) ,
£l ~ . :

p é(z;y—‘..é QM——

7 NOTARY PUBEILC

MARIE J. KOLLER, NOTARY PURLIS
PITTSBURGH, ALLEGKENY COUNTY
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES NOY. 28, 1285
Membsr, Pernsylvanis Association of Nataries




CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Complainant Vickilie L. Miller is an adult individual
residing at R.D. #2, Linesville, PA., 16424, and an "employee"
within the meaning of the Act.

2. Respondent Ohio Rubber Company, an unincorporated
division of Eagle-Picher Industries (an Ohio corporation),
which has a facility at Conneautville, Crawford County, PA.,
16406, is an "employer™ within the meaning of the Act.

3. The Pennsylvania Human Relatlons Commission has
jurisdiction over the parties and sublect matfter of this
action.

4., The parties and the Ccmmission have complied with
all procedural prereguisites toc a public hearing in this
matter.

5. Respondent's admitted policy oflfreating temporary
disability relating to pregnancy in a different manner from
any other tempcrary disablliity constitutes sex discrimination
in violation of Seetion 5(a)-of-the'Act;‘

6. Respéndent is not insulétéd-frém liabiliﬁy for its
discriminatory disability plan by the "bona fide group or
insurance plan”" exclusion of Section 5(a){(3) of the Act.

7. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 does not preempt the Human Relations Act insofar as the
latter prohibits discrimination in the terms of a plan

subject to ERISA.




8. The-employee benefit plan here challenged is sub-
ject to the provisions of ERISA.

9. The Commisslon is empowered to award back pay
relief, with interest, including lost disability benefits
following a finding that an unlawful discriminatory practice
has occurred.

10. The Commission may award relief to persons other
than the named complainant where it is alleged that other
persons were affected by the practice complained of and such
-g%her persons may be described with specificity.

11. The Commission may order relief to properly described
class members who were injured by a continuing discriminatory
policy, where such injury occurred more than ninety days and

within three years prior to the filing of a complaint.




QCPITNION

This case arises on a complaint filed by Vickie-L.
Miller {("Complainant") against the Ohio Rubber Co., Division
of Bagle - Picher Industries, Incorpgrated ("Respondent™)
with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission ("Commission™)
on August 28, 1978. Complainant alleged that Respondent dis-
criminated against her and other simllariy situated females
because of their sex by denying them full accident and sickness
benefits for disabilitles related to pregnancy, by limiting
benefit payments for disabilities related to pregnancy to a
pericd of six weeks for any given pregnancy. It was alleged
that this practice violated'Section 5(a) of the Pennsylvania
Human Relations Act, Act cf Cctober 27, 1955, as amended,
43 P.S. 951 et seg. ("Act"). | |

An investilgation was QOHducted into the‘allégations
of The complaint by Commission staff, Who determined that
orobable cause existed to éredit the allegations. - The
Commission attempted to eliminate the practices complained
of by conference, conelliatlion, and persuasion. When these
efforts were unsuccessful the case was approved for public
hearing.

At a pre-hearing conference held on March 23, 1982,
the parties agreed to stipulate to all facts and exhibits
in lieu of public hearing. A stipulation of facts with
exhibits was executed by Ellen Doyle, Esquire, Assistant

-




General Counsel, on behalf of Complainant, and David W.
Matthews, Esguire, on behalf of Respondent. Briefs were
submitted by both parties.

The Hearing Panel originally assigned to this case
included Commissioners Elizabeth Scott, Chalrperson, John
Wisniewski, and Mary Dennis Doncvan. Foliowing Commissioner
Donovan's resignaticon from the Commission, Commissioner Rita
Clark was assigned to replace her on the panel. Edith E.
Cox, Esquire, Assistant General Counsel, sérved as legal

advisor to The panel.

The facts to which the parties stipulated constitute
the entire evidentiary record in this case, and are incorporated
herein as the Commissicn's complete Findings of Fact. Our

decision requires resolution of four disputed legal issues:

1. Whether limitation of the benefits avallable
for pregnancy-related disability, when bene- .
fits available for other disabilities are not
so limited, constitutes discrimination on the
basis of sex in vioclation of the Act;

2. Whether the exclusion section of Section 5
{(a)(3) of the Act insulates Respondent from
llablllty in thls matter;

3. Whether the federal Emplcyee Retlrement'
Income Security Act of 1974, 25 U.3.C. §11i4
("ERTSA") preempts the Act insofar as the
Act prohibits discrimination in the terms
of a benefif plan subject to the provisions.
of ERISA:

4. Whether the Commission may order relief for
members ¢f the class of women who suffered
a loss of benefits more than ninety days
but less than three years pricr to the filing
of Ms. Miller's complaint.




A. Section 5(a) of the Act provides in relevant part that:
it shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice...
(a) For any employer because of the ... sex ... of
any individual o ... discriminate against such
individual with respect to compensation, hire,

tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employ-
ment... :

While acknowledging that 1ts benefit plan treated
pregnancy in a different manner than any other disabllity
(S.F. 11), Respondent asserts that such treatment is not sex
discrimination prohibited by the cited provision. Reliance

is placed on General Electric v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125 (1976),

which held that discrimination based on pregnancy was nof sex
discrimination préhibited.by Title VII of the 1564 Civil Rights
Act. |

The unpersuasive reasoning of-Gilbert was expressly

rejected by PennSylvénia‘s Commenwealth Court in Anderson v,

Upper Bucks,CountyrArea Vocational Technical School, 373 A,éd

130 (1977). The court there held that refusal to allow a
female émployee to applj accunmulated sick lééve to the total
time she was absent as d result of pregrnancy violated Section
5(a) of the Act. | |

In support of its decision, ﬁhe cdurt referred to &
pre-Gilbert decision of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court,

Cerra v. East Stroudsburg Area School District, 299 A.2d 277

(1973), which held that a school district regulation requir-
ing pregnant teachers to resign at the end of thelr fifth
month of pregnancy was "sex discrimination pure and simple'".
229 A.2d at 280. The Anderson court noted as well that all

six federal Circuilt Courts of Appeals which addressed the

-10-




issue prior to Gilbert found that exclusion of pregnancy
related disability from a disability plan violated Title VII.

Finally, thé Anderson court relied on regulations
passed by this Commission in 1975 wlhiich require employers to
treat disability due to pregnancy on the same terms and
conditions as any other temporary disability. 16 Pa. Code
§41.103(2).

As the Anderson court ncted, Secticns 2000e-7 and
2000h-4 of Title VII expressly provide that state laws
defining discriminatibn more comprehensively than the Civil
Rights Act of 1964 are not preempted or superseded by Title
VII. 373 A.2d at 130.

We therefore conclude that Respondent, by limiting
the disability benefits available to pregnant women while

not limiting benefite for other temporary disabilities,

‘violated Section 5{a) of the Act.

B. Séctioh 5(a)(3) of the Act provides that "(t)the
provigions of this paragraph shall not apply to...(2) opera-
tioﬁ-bf the terms or éonditions“df any bona fide group or
employe insurance plan." o

Respondent argues that even if it is found
te have discriminated against complainant, the
cited passage insulates it from 1iability. This
argument has also been rejected by a Pemmsylvania
Court.

In Lukus v. Westinghouse Electric Corporation, 419 A.2d 431

(Pa. Super. 1980), the ldentical argument was advanced by

Westinghouse and rejected by the Court. Finding that Section

5(a){3) was enacted to separate the jurisdictional realms of
the Commission and Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioners,

Superior Court held:
“11l-

1 T Y e N T



Section 955(a)(3) ensures that discriminatory
practices by insurance companies will be re-
gulated by the agency with broad oversight of
the Insurance industry, and that employers
will not be held responsible for those
practices under the PHRA, which governs reia-
tions between enmployers and employees, not
third parties... Nothing in Section 955(a)(3)
suggests that by enacting it, the legislature
intended to relieve an employer of legal
responsbility for employment decisions that
restrict the availability of insurance benefits
on equal ferms te all its employees.

Id. at 4d6

We therefore £ind that Section 5(a)(3) of the Act does
not insulate Respondent from liability for its violation of

the Act.

C. "Section 514(a) of ERISA provides in relevant part:
«e. (T)he provisions of this subchapter and
subschapter 11T of this chapter shall supersede

any and all stafe laws insofar as they may now
or hereafter relate to any emplcoyee beneflt plan...

_ 29 U.8.C. §1144(a)
Section 514(4) provides:
Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed
to alfer, amend, modify, invalidate, impair, or
supersede any.law of the United States... or any
rule or regulation issued under any such law.
---fThe'partiesfvigOrOusly-diépute the effect of these
sections upon thHe facfs of this case. The applicability of
ERTISA tc Respondent's disability plan is not disputed.
Preliminarily, we find that the plan is subject Tfo the pro-
visionsg of ERISA.
29 U.S.C. §1002(1) provides:
The terms "employee welfare benefit plan"
and "welfare plan" mean any plan, fund or pro-—

gram which was heretofore or 1s hereafter
established or maintained by an employer or

-12=




by an employee organization, or by both, to

the extent that such plan, fund or program was
established or is maintained for the purpose

of providing for ifs participants or thelr
beneficiaries, through the purchase of insurance

or otherwise, (A) medical, surgical, or hospital
care or benefifs, or benefifs in the event of
sickness, accldent, disability, death or unemploy-
ment... '

29 U.S.C. §1003 provides in part:

(a) Except [as otherwise provided], this
subchapter shall apply to any employee benefit
plan if it is established or maintained -

(1) by any employer engaged.in commerce
of in any industry or activity affecting
commerce; or

(2) by any employee organization or
organizations representing employees
engaged in commerce or in any industry or
activity affecting comerce; or

(3) by both.

The parties have stipulated (3.F. 10, 10a) that the
benefits here at issue were established by a collective bargain-
ing agreement and supplemental insurance agreement between
Respondent and the United Rubber, Cork; Linoleum and Plastic
Workers of America, Loczl Union No. 346.

Having determined that ERISA 1s applicable to the

~benefit plan challenged here, we must determine whether ERISA

preempts the Act insofar as the latter pronibits discrimination
in the provisions of employee benefit plans.
Pennsylvania's Supreme Ccurt has not decided this issue.

In Lukus v. Westirighouse, supra, Superlor Court found that

ERISA did not preempt the Act's regulation of Westinghouse's
emplcoyee disability plan. Subsequently, Commbnwealth Court

reached a contrary conclusion in Internaticnal TLadies!

Garment Workers" Unicn v. Allentown Humar Relations Commission,

-13-




53 Pa. Cmwlth. 229, 417 A.28 1279 (1980). The Supreme Court
denied allocatur in Qgggg on June 1, 1980; a petifion for
allowance of appeal was granted in'gggﬂg but the appeal was
discontinued by agreement of the parties.

Appeals from final orders of this Commission lie with
Commonwealth Court. In the absence of controlling decisions
by a higher court we are of course bound by Commonwealth
Court's rulings. However, in this instance we find that
decisions of the United States Surpeme Court prohlibit us
from following the Commonwealth Court decisicn in ;&gﬂg.

In two recent cases, the United States Supreme Court
has dismissed appeals, for want of a substantizl federal
question, from state supreme court decisions holding that
state laws prohibiting pregnancy discrimination in the
provision of employee disability benefits were not preempted

by ERISA. Minnescota Mining 2 Manufacturing Ca. v;'Minnesota;

L4y U.S. 1041 (1980), dismissing appeal from 289 N.W.2d 396

l(Minn. 1879); Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co. 7.

CommiSsioﬁer of-Labor.and Iﬁdﬁétfﬁ, Li45 U.S. 921 (1980),

dismissing ‘appeal from 608 P.2d 1047 (Mont. 1979). These .

summary dismissals may not be ignored. EFach involwved the
Court's exercilse of its obligatory appellate jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. 1257(2); in the absence of further enlighten-
ment from the Court, fthey stand as decisions on the merits

of the federal guestions presented to the Court and necessarily

declded by it in disposing of the appeal. Mandel v. Bradley,

432 U.3. 173 (1977) (per curiam). They are consequently

1l




binding upon lower courts until such time as the Supreme

Court indicates, expressly or by way of doctrinal developments,
that the dismissal may nc longer be followed. Hicks v.
Miranda, 422 U.S. 332 (1975). it is noteworthy thaﬁ, while
Commonwealth Court's decision in ILGWU followed the summary

dismissals in Minnesota and Mountain States, that decision

does not decide the effect of those summary dismissals upon

lower tribunals.

Minnesota and Mountain States have not been expressly

cverruled by the United States Supreme Court. The second
Circuit Court of Appeals has however found that they are
deprived of precedental value by an intervening Supreme

Court decision. 1In Delta Airlines, Inc. v. Kramarsky, 666

F.2d4 21 (24 Cir. 1980), appeal docketed U.S.

50 U.S.L.W. 3717 (February 22, 1982) (No. 81-1578), the

Second Circuit held that Mountain States and Mlnnesota were

deprived of precedental welght by Alessi v. Raybestos—

Manhattan, Ine., 451 U.S. 504 (1981). A number of factors

persuade us that Alessi should not be so interpreted, and
that we continue to be bound by the summary dismissals in

Minnesota and Mcuntain States.

Alessl did not deal with the effect of ERISA upon
state fair employment legislation, as did Minnesota and

Mountain State. Alessi found that ERISA preempted New

Jersey legislation which eliminated one method of calculating
pension benefits ~ integration - that federal law permitted.

451 U.S. at 514-517. Before holding that the New Jersey

-15-




statuﬁe ﬁas preempﬁed, the Court explicitly held that the
subject matter in question {integratiocn of pension benefits
with workers' compensation benefits) was regulated by ERISA.
New Jersey had thus impermissibly attempted to regulate an
area of direct concern to ERISA.

On the other hand, ERISA is silent on the subject of
discrimination. State falr employment statutes such as

those at 1ssue in Minnescta, Mountain 3States, and the instant

case,‘do not have the same reiationship to ERISA as did the
New Jersey statute in Alessi. We consegquently conclude that
the "doctrinal development" of Alessi is not sufficiently
clear to overcome the unquestionably binding precedent of

Minnesota and Mountain States.

Purther, we note that the Supreme Cocurt has agreed to
hear the appeal from the Second Circuit's decision in

Kramarsky, supra (probable jurisdiction noted, 50 U.S.L.W.

3831, April 20, 1982), drawing into question that Court's
interpretation of Alessi.

Pinally, Alessi did not address the interaction of
Sections 514(a) and 514(4) of ERISA,. cited ‘above'.-_ The'_Ne,w'
Jersey statute there invalidated was not expressly protected
by a federal statute. State falr employment laws, by con-
trast, are specifically preserved by Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq., §%2000e-7,
2000h-4.

Therefore, in the absence of clarification from either

the United Stafes Supreme Court or a Pennsylvania appellate

—16—




court, we belleve that we continue to be bound by the summary

dismissals in Minnesota and Mountain States. We consequently

find that ERISA does not preempt'the Act insofar as the Act
prohibits discrimination in the provision of employee dis-

ability benefits.

D. When it finds that an unlawful discriminatory practice

has occured, the Commission 1s empowered by Section 9 of the

Act to order "such affirmative action including but not limited

to...backpay...as, in the judgment of the Commission, will
effectuate the purposes of this act..." 43 P.3. 959. A back
pay award need not be lost earnings, but may include lost

benefifs such as disabillity pay. West Middlesex Area School

District v. PHRC, Pa. Cmwlth., 394 A.2d4 lBOl.at 1304 (1978).

Back pay liability may accrue for no more than three years
prior to the filing of a cbmpiaint. 43 P.S. 962(c).

The parties have stipulated Atha_t- Ms. Miller's complaint
was filed on August 23, 1978 (S.F. No. 3), and that the policy

challenged by her was in effect for over three years prior to

“the filing of her complaintj(S5F..No. 10,110a, il). It is

further étipulated that Ms. Miller and five other named
individuals, by operation of the policy, received disability
beneflits for a six week period when they were disabled for
reasons related To pregnancy, although in each case a treating
physician certified that the period of actual disability was
longer then six weeks; each identified instance occurred
during the three year period preceding the filing of Ms.

Miller's complaint. (S.F. No. 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18).

-17-




Complainant urges that each of these named individuals is
entitied to relief; Respondent, citing the Act's 90 day
filing period, argues that claims which arose more than
ninety days prior to Ms. Miller's filing are time barred.
Having determined that the challenged policy violated the
Act, we must decide whether relief may be ordered for members
of a class of women who suffered a loss of benefits more than
ninety days but less than three years prior to the filing of
Mg, Miller's complaint.

It is beyond question that relief may be ordered for

persons other than the named complainant. In PHRC v. Free-

port Area School District, 350 A.2d 721 (1976) Pennsylvania's

Supreme Court approved an award of relief for such person

where:

(1) the complainant alleges that such other
rersons have been affected by the alleged dis-
criminatory practice and (2) such other persons
entitled To relief may be described with

specificlty. 350 A.2d at 728
Those conditions have been met in this case.
We find as well that the challenged policy constituted
a constant state of affairs which began at 1éést'in1Feb£uary
of 1975 and continued unabated into the fiiing period. The
Commission's regulations provide:

The complaint shall be filed within 90 days
from the date of the cccurrence of the alleged
unlawful diseriminatory practice. If the alleged
unlawful discriminatery practice is of a continu-
‘ing nature, the date of the cccurrence of such
practice shall be deemed to be any date subsequent
to the occurrence of such practice up to and
including the dafe upon which the unlawful dis-—
criminatory practice shall have ceased.

16 Pa. Code §42.11(8)
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The complaint in this matter may thus properly challenge

'applicatibns of Respondent's discriminatory pollicy where the

applications occured more than ninety days prior to filing
but during the periocd of the policy's continuing effect;
persons similarly affected by the policy are entitled to

relief where, as here, the conditions of Freeport, supra.,

are met.

Numerous decisions interpreting Title VII of the Civil

Rights Act of 1964, the federal analcgue to the Act (General

Electric v. PHRC, Pa., 365 A.2d 649 at 65k, 1976), support

this construction of the Act and the validity of the cited

regulation. In Satz v. ITT Financisl Corp., 619 F.2d4 738,

8th Cir. 1980, the Eighth Circuit reversed a dismissal for
untime;iness_of a complaint alleging thaﬁ the charging party
and similarly situated females were denied equai pay and
opportunitieslfor'advanéemenﬁ.— The Court there.emphasiZed
that.the relefant inquify is whethef thére hés been é
continuously maintained illegal'policy with an instance of
application of the policy within the filing period; ;Q. _
étrTﬁuu_-Th§:Courﬁ-fgrther.féund that;ﬁ,;;thefallégation'bfi
a presently maintained policy of diécrimination may state a
claim under Title VII even if the last specific act pursuant
to that policy occurred [prior to the filing pericdal". Id

b

citing Bethel v. Jendoc¢o Construction Co., 570 F.2d 1168,

1174-75 {34 Cir. 1978). SEE ALSO: Acha v, Beame, 570 F.2d

57 (2d Cir. 1978) and Laffey v. Northwest Airlines, Inc.,

567 F.2d 429 (D.C. Cir. 1976), cert. den. 434 U.S. 1086 (1978). .
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A continuing violation allegation determined the scope

of the class in Wetzel v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 508

F.2d 239 (34 Cir. 1975). The Court there rejected the
company's attempt to limit the class and approved a class
excluding only women who had left the company's employ more
than 210 days before the EE0OC charge was filed. The Court
reasoned that the complaint had alleged maintenance of dis-
criminatory policies up to the fime cof filing, policies which
were continuing vioiations of Title VII and would permit
filing of charges at any time by-present'employees.
Therefore, and consistently with our opinion in Voiner

v. PPG Tndustries, Inc., E-10702 and E-12471, we find that

we may order relief for those women who lost benefits as a
result of Respondent's unlawful discfiminatory relicy more
than ninety days but less than three years prior to the

filing of Ms. Miller's complaint. The‘partiés have

stipuldted to the amounts lost by each of the women previously

identified. Relief shall therefore be provided for those

women as specified in the Order which follows.
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COMMONWEALTHE OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICES
PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICKIE L. MILLER,
Complainant
vs. X DOCKET NO. E-14Lsh

OEIO RUBBER COMPANY,

DIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER
INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent

RECOMMENDATION OF HEARING PANEL

Upon consideration of the full record in this matter,
the‘Hearing Panel recommends that the attached Findings of
Fact, Conclusions of Law, Opinion, and Order be adopted and

entered by the full Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission.

" BY:
ji: H ,4/ ) - }a . :
January 24, 1983 - L,{[,Uhjly- Y /1,//f
DATE ELIZABETH M. SCOTT ~Chalrperson
. /"\ [ .
TN B . X
T \“ . #’,f'//“ e
January 24, 1983 Sl e A L
DATE J OHN WISNIEWSKI Commissioner
- d‘" S :'\« -:"\ .
January 24, 1983 A AN

DATE RITA CLARK Comm1881oner
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICES
PENNSYLVANIA BEUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICKIE L. MILLER,
Complainant
vs. : DOCKET NO. E-14u45i

OHIO RUBBER COMPANY,
DIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER
INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent

FINAL ORDER

AND NOW, this 2nd day of - February , 1983, the

Pennsylvania Human Relations-Commission hereby adopts the
foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Opinion,

in accordance with the Recommendation of the Hearing Panel,

and therefore

CRDERS:

1. That Respondent Ohio Runber Co. cease and desist
from discriminating on the basis of sex in the provision of
employee disability benefits;

2. That Respondent pay to each of the following

individuals the amount designated following the individual's

name, plus interest of six per cent (6%) per annum, calculated

from the last day of each individual's disability leave as




specifiled in the Stipulations of Fact:

a. Vickie L. Miller - $1500.00
b. Patricia A. Henry - 1500.00
c. Connilie Miller - 1200.00
d. Sharon H. Blood - 170.00
e. Carol Hoagland - 610.00
f. Judith Schneider -  1500.00

Payment shall be by check payable to each individual and

delivered in care of Michael Foreman, Esquire, Assistant
General Counsel, Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission,
11th Floor, State Office Building, 300 Liberty Avenue,
Pittsburgh, PA 15222.

3. That Respondent provide the Commission with satis-
factory written proof_of compliance with the terms of this
Crder within thirty days of the date found on the COrder.

PENNSYLVANTA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

!

By: e L Tup
JOSEPH X. YAFFE, Chairperson
. . Py
ATTEST: : _ N
,,,/ ’ - ,‘ is
L £ '*,«:t /f-f —774 ///‘ { /’;/"" //

ELIZAE%E; M. SCOTT, Secretary

—




COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANTIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICE
PENNSYLVANTA EUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

Y VICKIE L. MILLER,
b Complainant

v-

Docket No. E=14454

(2]

Il OHIO RUBBER COMPANY, :
| DIVISION OF EAGLE~PICHER
| INDUSTRIES, INC.,

0 Respondent

e s e

STIPULATION OF FACTS

The following facts are admitted by the parties and
éishall constitute the full evidentlary record in lieu of hearing
ééin the above~captioned matter:

1. The Complainant herein is Vickie L, Miller, an

ﬁﬁadult individual, who resides at R.D. #2, Linesville, Pennsylvania
1642k, o
2. The Respondent herein is Ohlio Rubber Company, an
_;unincorporated division of Fagle«~Picher Industries, Inc., an
inhio corporation, having a facility located in Céhneautville; 
%erawford County, Pennsylvania 16406, and is an employer of

é:four or more persons within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

3. The Complainant, on or about August 23, 1978,

,ifiled a notarized complaint with the Pennsylvania Human
;:Relations Commission (hereinafter "Commission") at Docket

No. E-18454, alleging that Respondent had discriminated against




t her and similarly situated females by denying them equal

i disability payments for pregnancy related disabilities. A copy

of the formal complaint is attached hereto as Appendix "A".

4, The Complaint was served upon Respondent on

.: September 8, 1978.

5. In corfespondence dated December 29, 1980, the
Commission ncotified the Respondent that an investigation had
been conducted and that probable cause to credit the allegations
of the complaint had been found.

6. Attempts to‘c0nciliate the complaint and obtain

s reiiefl for the Complainant and five other females employees -

Patricia A. Henry, Connie Miller, Sharcn H. Blocd, Carol

4 Hoagland and Judith Schneider - were unsuccessful.

7. On June 16, 1981 the Respondent was given notice

-Ethat the Commission approved the case for public hearing.

8. Vickie L. Miller, Patricia A. Henry; Connie Miller,
Sharon H. Bloocd, Carol Hoagland and Judith Schneider were
employed by Respondent at all Times relevant hereto.
.;9;; At all tlmes relevant hereto Vickie L. Milier,

Patricia A. Henry, Connie Miller, Sharcn H. Bloocd, Carcl

% Hoagland and Judith Schneider were members of the bargaining

unit of the United Rubber, Cork, Lincleum and Plastic Workers of

" America, Local Union No. 346, which union represented certain

~of Respondent's employees.

10. For the period February 24, 1678, to midnight
February 23, 1981, there was in effect between Respondent and
Local Union No. 346 a collective bargaining agreement and

supplemental insurance agreement (& copy of which is attached




i for any one pregnancy related disability to six (6) weeks while

i applicable to the employment of Patricia A. Henry, Sharon H.

Hereto as Exhibit 1) which established the terms, conditions

and benefits applicable to the employment of Vickle L. Miller,

10a. For the period February 24, 1975 to February 23, ]
1978 there was in effect between Respondent and Local Union
No. 3346 a collective bargaining agreement and supplenental in- :
surance agreement (a copy of which is attached hereto as

Exhibit 2) which established the terms, conditions and benefits

" Blood and Carol Hoagland.

11. The agreements (Exhibit 1 and 2) limited payments i

all other disabilities could be compensated up to a maximum of
twenty-~six (26) weeks.

12. - Respondent has provided fo the Commission a list

' of employees to whom it paid disability'benefits'fOr'feasons

 other than pregnancy for the period August 1977 - August 1978

‘a copy of which list is attached hereto as Exhiblt 3.

13. ‘Vickie'L. Miller's treating physician:cértifiéd'her
as disabied for reasons related to pregnancy for the period
July 3, 1978 to April 2, 1979. However, Respondent paid her

only for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.00.

¢ If the Commisslon finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful

L discriminatory practice, Mg, Miller is entifled to recelve an

additional $1500 in disability benefits.




14, Patricia A. Henry's treating physician certified

o her as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period

January 28, 1976 to October 11, 1976. However, Respondent paid
her only for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.00.
If the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful
digeriminatory practice, Ms., Henry is entitled to receive an
additional $1500 in disability benefits.

15, Connie Miller's treating physicilan, certified her

as disabled for reascns related to pregnancy for the period

.iJuly 10, 1978 to January 29, 1979. Respondent paid her only for

six (6) weeks of disability in anount of $450.00. The Commission -

! is not seeking benefits for the period from July 10, 1978 to

¢ August 23, 1978 as Ms. Miller received unemployment benefits for

Szthat time. The Unemployment benelits were discontinued due to

" Ms. Miller's hospitalization. If the Commission finds that Re-

spondent engaged in an unlawful discriminatory practice, Ms.

‘S Miller is entitled to receive an additional $1200 in disability

“ benefits.

. 16. Sharon H. Blood's treating physician certified her
as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period
September 5, 1975 to November 10, 1675. Respondent paid her only

for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $420.00. If

- the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful

3?discriminatory practice, Ms. Blood is entitled to receive an

additional $170 in disability benefits.
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17. Carol Hoagland's treating physicilan cert{ified her
as disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period
May 10, 1976 to August 24, 1976. Respondent paid her only for
six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $450.00. If the
Commission finds that Respondent engaged in an unlawful dis-
criminatory practice, Ms. Hoagland iS'en?itled to receive an
additional $610 in disability benefits.

18. Judith Schneider's treating-physician certified

her disabled for reasons related to pregnancy for the period

+ November 14, 1977 to August 7, 1978. Respondent pald her only

" for six (6) weeks of disability in an amount of $420.00. If

the Commission finds that Respondent engaged in.an uniawful

discriminatory practice, Ms. Schneider is entitled to receive an

4 additional $150C in disability benefits.

CQ Qoun W

Ellen M. Doyle _
Agsgistant General Counsel

Pa. Human Relations Commission

David Matthews

Attorney for Respondent, Chio Rubber
Company, Division of Eagle-FPicher
Industries, Inec.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
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AND NOW, to wit this /& day of //:4112 , 1982,

Ellen M., Doyle, Agsistant General Counsel yPennsylvanla Human

Relatlons Commission, hereby certify that I this day served the
Stipulation of Facts by depositing same in the U.S. Mail,

postage prepaid, at Pittsburgh, PA in accordance with the

reculrements of 1 Pa. Code §33.32 (relating to service by a

gpartlclpant) addressed to:

g David W.

Matthews, Esq.

Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc.

ﬁ P.O. Box

qSWORN TO and subscribed

ibefore me this /tﬁﬁa' day

ol

, 1982.

fof 521
i 7

id

/ﬁ3222a~bef5:),;2:;25%25-—

~ NOTARY PUEEIC

MARIE J, XOLLER, NOTARY PURLIS
PITISBURGH, ALLEGHERY CouMTY
MY CORRISSION EXPIRES KOY. 28, 17385
Member, Pennsylvania Association of Notarias

779

Cineinnati, Ohio 45201

VWA @
Ellen M. Doyle _
Assistant General Counsel
Pa. Human Relations Commission
1lth Floor State Office Buillding
300 Liberty Avenue
Pittsburgh, PA 15222
(412) 565-7979




CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Complainant Vickie L. Miller is an adult individual
residing at R.D. #2, Linesville, PA., 16424, and an "employee"
within the meaning of the Act. |

2. Respondent Chioc Rubber Company, an unincorporated
division of Eagle-Picher Industries {(an Ohio corporation),
which has a facility at Conneautville, Crawford County, PA.,
16406, is an "employer" within the meaning of the Act.

3. The Pennsylvania Human Relaticons Commission has
jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this
action.

4. The parties and the Commission have complied with

all procedural preregulsites to a public hearing in tThis

matter. -

5. Respondént's‘admitted policy of treaﬁing tempcerary
disabilility felating to pregnancy in aldifferenf manner from
any othef témporary disability COnstitutes(sex discrimination
in violation of Section 5(a) of the Act.

6.. Respéndenf ié‘nét ihsulétéd ffom'iiééiiify for its
discriminatory disability plan by the "bona fide group or
insurance plan® exclusion of Section 5(a)(3) of the Act.

7. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 does not preempt the Huwman Relations Act insofar as the
latter prohibits discrimination in the terms of a plan

subject to ERISA.




8. The employee benefit‘plan here challenged is sub-
ject to the provisions of ERISA.

§. The Commission is empowered to award back pay
relief, with interest, including lost disablility benefits
following 2 finding that an unlawful discriminatory practice
has occurred.

10. The Commission may award reiief to persons other
than the named complainant where it is alleged that other
persons were affected by the practice complained of and such
other pefsons may be described with specificity.

11l. The Commission may order relief fto properly described
class members who were injured by a continuing discriminatory
policy, where such Injury occurred more than ninety days and

within three years pricr to the filing of a complaint.




OPINTION

This case arises on a complaint filed by Vickie L.
Miller ("Cbmplainant") against the Ohio Rubber Co., Division
of Eagle - Picher Industries, Incorpﬁrated ("Respondent™)
with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission ("Commission™)
on August 28, 1978. Complainant alleged that Respondent dis-
criminated against her and other similarly situated females
because of their sex by denying them full accident and sickness
benefits for disabilities related f¢ pregnancy, by limiting
benefit payments for disabilities related to pregnancy to a
period of six weeks for any given pregnancy. It was alleged
that this practice violated Section 5(a) of the Pennsylvania
Human Relations Act, Act of October 27, 1955, as amended,
43 P.5. 951 et seg. ("Act™).

An investigation was.conducted into the allegations
of the complaint by Commission staif, who determined that
probable cause existed to credit the allegations. The
Commission attempted to eliminate the practices complained
of by conference, conciliation, and persuasion. When these
efforts were unsuccessful the case was approved for public
hearing.

At a pre-hearing conference held on March 23, 1982,
the partles agreed to stipulate to all facts and exhibits
in lieu of public hearing. A stipulaticon of facts with |
exhibits was executed by Ellen Doyle, Esquire, Assistant

8-




General Counsel, on behalf of Complainant, and David W.
Matthews, Esquire, on behalf of Respondent. Briefs were
submitted by both parties.

The Hearing Panel originally assigned To this case
included Commissioners Elizabeth Scott, Chairperson, John
Wisniewskl, and Mary Dennis Donovan. Following Commissioner
Donovan's resignation from the Commission, Commissioner Rita
Clark was assigned to repiace her on the panel. Edith E.
Cox, Esquire, Assistant General Counsel, served as legal
advisor £o the panel.

The fzcts to which the parties stipulated constitute

the entire evidentiary record in this case, and are incorporated

herein as the Commission's complete Findings of Fact. OQur

decision requires resoluticn of four disputed legal issues:

1l. Whether limitation of the benefits avallable
for pregnancy-related disability, when bene-
fi¥s availlable for other disabililities are not
so limited, constitutes discrimination cn the
basls of sex in viclation of the Act;

2. Whether the exclusion section of Section K

{(2)(3) of the Act insulates Respondent from
ligbillty in this matter:;

3. Whether the federal Employee Retlrement
Income Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. §114&
("ERISA") preempts the Act insofar as the
Act prohibits discrimination in the terms
of & benefit plan subject to the provisions
of ERISA:;

L. ‘Whether the Commission may order relief for
members of the class of women who suffered
a loss of benefits meore than ninety days
but less than three years prior to the filing
of Ms. Miller's compliaint.




A. BSection 5{(a) of the Act provides in relevant part that:
Tt shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice...
(a) For any employer because of the ... sex ... of
any individual to ... discriminate against such
individual with respect to compensation, hire,

tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employ-
ment. ..

While acknowledging that its benéfit plan treated
pregnancy inra different manner than any other disability
(5.F. 11), Respondent asserts that such treatment is not sex
discrimination prohibited by the cited provision. Reliance

is placed on General Electric v. Gilbert, 429 U.3. 125 (1976),

which held that diécrimination based on pregnancy was not sex
discrimination prohibited by Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights
Act.

The unpersuasive reasoning of Gilbert was expressly

rejected by Pennsylvania's Commonwealth Court in Anderson v.

Upper Bucks County Area Vocational Technical School, 373 A.2d

130 (1977). The court there held that refusal to allow a
female employee to apply accumulated sick leave to the total

time she was absent as a result of pregnancy violated Section

'5(a) of the Act.

In suppert of its decision, the court referred tc a
pre-Gilbert decision of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court,

Cerra v. Fast Stroudsburg Area School District, 299 A.2d 277

(1973), which held that a school district regulation requir-
ing pregnant teachers to resign at the end of their fifth
month of pregnancy was "sex discrimination pure and simple'.
229 A.2d at 280. The Anderson court noted as well that all

5ix federal Circuit Courts of Appeals which addressed the
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issue prior to Gilbert found that exclusion of pregnancy

related disability from z disability plan violated Title VII.

Finally, the Anderson court relied on regulations
passed by this Commission in 1975 which require employers to
treat disability due to pregnancy on the same terms and
.conditions as any other temporary disability. 16 Pa. Code
§41.103(a).

As the Anderson court ncted, Sectlons 2000e-7 and
2000h-4% of Title VII expressly provide that state laws
defining discrimination more comprehensively than the Civil
Rights Act of 1964 are not preempted or superseded by Title
VII. 373 A.2d at 130.

We therefore Qonclude that Respondent, by limiting
the disability benefits avallable to pregnant women while
not I1imiting benefits for other temporary disabilities,

violated Section 5(a) of the Act.

B. Section 5(a)(3) of the Act provides that "(t)the
provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to...(3) opera-
tion of the terms or conditions of any bona fide:group‘or
employe insurance plan.”
Respondent argues that even if 1f 1s found
to have discriminafted against complainant, the
cited passage Insulafes if from lisbility. This

argument has also been rejected by a Pennsylvania
Court.

In Lukus v. Westinghouse Electric Corporation, 419 A.2d 431

(Pa. Super. 1G80), the identical argument was advanced by

Westinghouse and rejected by the Court. Finding that Section

5(a)(3) was enacted to separate the jurisdictional realms of

the Commission and Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioners,

Superior Court held:
~11-
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Section 955(a)(3) ensures that discriminatory® -
practices by Insurance companies will be re-
gulated by the agency with broad oversight of
the insurance industry, and that employers
will not be held responsible for those
practices under the PERA, which governs rela-
tions between employers and employees, not
third parties... Nothing in Section 955(a)(3)
suggests that by enacting it, the Legislature
intended to relieve an employer of legal
responsbility for employment decisions tThat
restrict the availabllity of insurance benefits
on equal terms to all its employees.

Id. at 446

We therefore find that Section 5(a)(3) of the Act does
not insulate Respondent from 1liability for its violation of

the Act.

C. Section 514(a) of ERISA provides in relevant part:
... (Mhe provisioms of this subchapter and
subschapter ITT of this chapter shall supersede

any and all state laws insofar as they may now
or hereafter reiate to any employee beneflt plan...

29 U.S.C. §1144(a)
Section $1L4{4) provides:
Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed
to alter, amend, modify, invalidate, impair, or
supersede any.law of the United States... or any
rule or regulation issued under any such law.
| The parties vigorously dispute the effect of these
sections upcn the facts of this case. The applicability of
"ERISA to Respondent's disability plan is not disputed.
Preliminarily, we find that the plan is subject to the pro-
visions of ERISA.
29 U.S8.C. §1002(1) provides:
The terms "employee welfare tenefit plan”
and "welfare plan" mean any plan, fund or pro-

gram which was heretofore or is hersafter
established or maintained by an employer or

~12-
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by an employee organization, or by both,. to

the extent that such plan, fund or program was
established or is maintained for the purpose

of providing for its participants or their
beneficiaries, through the purchase of insurance
or otherwise, (A) medical, surgical, or hospital
care or benefits, or benefits in the event of

sickness, acc1dent dlsablllty, death or unemploy-
ment...

29 U.S.C. §1003 provides in part:

(a) Except [as. otherwise providedl, this
subchapter shall apply tc any employee benefift
plan if it is established or maintained -

(1) by any employer engaged in commerce
of in any industry or activity affecting
comerce; or

(2) by any employee organization or
organirations representing employees
engaged In comerce or in any Industry or
acstivity affecting camerce; or

(3) by both.

The parties have stipulated (S.F. 10, 10a) that the

benefits here at issue were established by a collective bargain-

ing agreement and sﬁpplemental‘insurance agreement between
Reépondent and the United Rubber, Gork,,Linoleum_and'Plasticr
Workers. of Amerlca, Loczl Union- No. 346, -

Having determined that ERISA 1s appllcable to the
benefit plan challenged here, we must determine whgther ERISA
rreempts ﬁhe Aét insofar aé'ﬁhe-lattér prohibité.diS§fimiﬁation
in the prcvisions of employee benefit bians.

Pennsylvania's Supreme Court has not decided this issue.

In Lukus v. Westirighouse, supra, Superior Court found that

ERISA did not preempt the Act's regulation of Westinghouse's
employee disability plan. Subsequently, Commonwealth Court

reached a contrary conclusion in International Ladies'

Garment Workers' Unicn v. Allentown Human Reldtioris Commission,

=13-




53 Pa. Cmwlth. 229, 417 A.24 1279 (1880). The Supreme Court
denied allocatur in nggg on June 1, 19803 a petition for
allowance of appeal was granted in'gggﬁg but the appeal was
discontinued by agreement of the parties.

Appeals from final orders of this Commission lie with
Commonwealth Court. In the absence of controlling decisions
by a higher court we are of course bound by Commonwealth
Court's rulings. However, in this instance we find that
decisions of the United States Surpeme Court prohibit us
from following the Commonwealth Court decision in ;ggﬂg.

In two recent cases, the United States Supreme Court
has dismissed appeals, for want of a substantial federal
question, from state supreme court decisions holding that
state laws prohibiting pregnancy discrimination in the

provision of employee disability benefits were not preempted

oy ERISA. Minnesota Mining & Manufacturing Co. v. Minnesota,

CL4Y U.S. 1041 (1980), dismissing appeal from 289 N.W.2d 396

(Minn. 1979); Mcocuntain States Teléphone and Télegraph Co. v.

Commissioﬁer‘of Labor and Industry, 445 U.S. 921 (1980),

. dismissing appeal from 608 P.2d 1047 (Mont. 1979). These

summary dismissals may not te ignored. Each involved the

Court's exercise of ifts obligatory appellate jurisdiction

under 28 U.S.C. 1257{(2); in the absence of further enlighten-

ment from the Court, they stand as decisions cn the merits

of the federal questions presented to the Court and necessarily f

decided by it in disposing of the appeal. Maridel v. Bradley,

432 U.S. 173 (1977) (per curiam). They are consequently

—-14~




binding upon lower courts until such time as the Supreme

Court indicates, exbressly or by way of doctrinal developments,
that the dismissal may no longer be followed. Hicks v.
Miranda, 422 U.S. 332 (1975). it is noteworthy that, while
Commonwealth Court's decision in ILGWU followed the summary

dismissals in Minnesota and Mountain States, that decision

dces not decide the effect of those summary dismissals upon

lower tribunals.

Minnesota and Mountain States have not been expressly
overruled by the United States Supreme Court. The second
Circult Court of Appeals has however found that they are
deprived of precedental value by an intervening Supreme

Court decisicn. In Delta Airlines, Inc. v. Kramarsky, 666

F.2d 21 (24 Cir. 1980), appeal docketed U.s.
50 U.S.L.W. 3717 (February 22, 1982) (No. 81-1578), the

- Second. Circuit held that Mcuntain States and Minnesota were

deprived of precedental weight by Alessi v. Raybestos-

Manhattan, Inc., 451 U.S. 504 (3981). A number of factors

persuade us that Alessi should not be so. 1nterpreted, and
that we contlnue to be bound by the summary dlsmlssals in

Minnesota and Mountain States.

Alessi did not deal with the effect of ERISA upon
state falr employment legislation, as did Minnesota and

Mountain State. Alessi found that ERISA preempted New

Jersey legislation which eliminated one method of calculating
pension benefifs - integration - that federal law permitted.

451 U.S. at 514-517. Before holding that the New Jersey
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statute was preempted, the Court explicitly held that the
subject matter in question (integration of pension benefits
with workers' compensation benefits) was regulated by ERISA.
New Jersey had thus impermissibly attempted to regulate an
area of direct concern tTo ERISA.

On the other hand, ERISA is silent on the subject of

discrimination. 8State falr employment statutes such as

those at issue in Minnesota, Mountain States, and the instant

case, do not have the same relaticnship to ERISA as did the
New Jersey statute in Alessi. We consequently conclude that
the "doctrinal development" of Alessi is not sufficiently
clear tc overcome the unguestionably btinding precedent of

Minnescota and Mountain States.

Further, we note that the Supreme Court has agreed to
hear the appeal from the Second Circuit's decision in

Kramarsky, supra (probable jurisdiction noted, 50 U.S.L.W.

3831, April 20, 1982), drawing into question that Court's
interpretation of Alessi. |

Finally, Alessi did not address the interacticon of
Sections 514(a) and 514(d4) Of‘ERISA; ciﬁed above. The New
Jersey statute there invalidated was not expressly protected
by a federal statute. State falr employment laws, by con-
trast, are specifically preserved by Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1564, 42 U.3.C. 2000e et seg., $§2000e-7,
2000h-4.

Therefore, in the absence of clarification from either

the United States Supreme Court or a Pennsylvania appellate
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court, we belleve that we conftinue to be bound by the summary

dismissals in Minnesota and Mountaln States. We consequently

find that ERISA does not preempt the Act insofar as the Act
prohibits discrimination In the provision of employee dis-

ability benefits.

D. When it finds that an unlawful discriminatory practice

has occured, the Commission 1is empowered by Section 9 of the

Act to order "such affirmative action including but nct limited |

to...backpay...as, in the judgment of the Commission, will
effectuate the purposes of this act..."™ 43 P.S., 959, A back
pay award need not be lcst earnings, but may include lost.

benefits such as disability pay. West Middlesex Arez School

District v. PHRC, Pa. Cmwlth., 354 A.2d 1301 at 1304 (1978).

Back pay liability may accrue for nc more than three years
priocr to the.filing of a compiaint. 43 P.S. g962(c).
The_parfies have stipulated that Ms. Miller's coﬁplaint
was filed on August 23, 1978 (8.F. No. 3), and that the policy
challenged by her was in effect for over three years prior to
the filing of her complaint (3.F. No. 10, 10a, 11),_ It 1s
further Stipulated that Ms. Miller and fivé.otﬁer named
individusls, by operation of the policy, received disability
benefits for a six week period when they were disabled for
reasons related to pregnancy, although in each case a tregting
physician certified that the pericd of actual disablility was
ionger than six weeks; each identiflied instance occcurred
during the three year pericd preceding the filing of Ms.

Miller's complaint. (S.F. No. 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18).

~-17-
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Complainant urges that each of these named individuals is
entitled to relief; Respondent, citing the Act's 90 day
filing pericd, argues that clalms which arose more than
ninety days prior to Ms. Miller's filing are time barred.
Having determined that the challenged policy violated the
Act, we must decide whether relief may be ordered for members
of a class of women who suffered a loss of benefits more than
ninety days but less than three years prior te the filing of
Ms., Miller's complaint.

It is beyond question that relief may be ordered for

persons other than the named complainant. In PHRC v. Free-

vort Area School District, 350 A.2d4 721 (1976) Pennsylvania's

Supreme Court approved an award of relief for such person

where:

(1) the complainant alleges that such other
persons have been affected by the alleged dis-
criminatory practice and (2) such other persons
entitled to relief may be described with -

specificity. 350 A.2d at 728 .
Those conditions have been met in this case.
We find as well that the challenged pollcy constituted
a constant state of affairs which began at least in. February
of 1975 and continued unabated into the filing period. The
Commission's regulations provide:

The complaint shall be filed within 90 days
from the date of the occurrence of the alleged
utlawful discriminatory practice. If the alleged
unlawful discriminatory practice is of a confinu-
ing nature, the date of the occurrence of such
practice shall be deemed €0 be any date subsequent
to the occurrence of such practice up to and
Including the date upon which the unlawful dis-
criminatory practice shall have ceased.

16 Pa. Code §42.11(2)
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opportunities for advancement. .The Court there emphasized .

‘at T4h.  The Court further found that "...the allegation of

The complaint in this‘matter may thus properly challenge
applications of Respondent's discriminatory policy where the
applications occured more than ninety days prior to filing
but during the pericd of the policy's continuing effect;
persons similarly affected by the policy are entitled to

relief where, as here, the conditions of Freeport, supra.,

are met.
Numerous decisions interpreting Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, the federal analogue to the Act (General

Electric v. PHRC, Pa., 365 A.2d& 649 at 65U, 1976), support

this construétion of the Act and the validity of the cited

regulation. In Satz v. ITT Financial Corp., 619 F.24 738,

8¢h Cir. 1980, the Eighth Circult reversed a dismissal for
untimeliness of a2 complaint alleging that the charging party

and simlilarly situated females were denled egual pay and

that the relevant inguiry is whether there has been a
coritinuously maintained illegal polidy with an instance of

application of the policy within the filing period. Id.

a presently maintained policy of discriminatlion may state a :
claim under Title VII even if fThe last specific act pursuant ?
to that policy occurred [prior to the filing period]"™. Id.,

citing Bethel v. Jendoco Construction Co., 570 F.2d 1168,

1174=75 (34 Cir. 1978). SEE ALS0: Acha v. Beame, 570 F.24

57 (2d Cir. 1978) and Laffey v. Northwest Airlines, Inc.,

567 F.2d 429 (D.C. Cir. 1976), cert. den. 434 U.3. 1086 (1978).}
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A continuing violation allegation determined the scope

of the class 1n Wetzel v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 508

¥.2d 239 (34 Cir. 1975). The Court there rejected the
company's attempt to limit the class and approved a class
excluding only women who had left the company's employ more
than 210 days before the EEOC charge was filed. The Court
reasoned that the complaint had alleged maintenance of dis-
criminatory policies up to the time of filing, policies which
were continuing viclations of Title VII and would permit
filing of charges at any time by-present'employees.
Therefore, and consistently with our cpinion in Voiner

V. PPG Industries, Inc., E-10702 and E-12471, we find that

we may order relief for those women who lost benefits as a
result of Respondent's unlawful discriminatory policy more
than ninety days but less than three years prior to the

filing of Ms. Miller's complaint.  The parties have

stipulated to the amounts lost by each'of‘the womén.previously
identified. Relief shall therefore be provided for those

women as specilfied In the Order which follows.
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICES
PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICKIE L. MILLER,

Complainant

vs. : DOCKET NO. E-14454

CHIC RUBBER COMPANY,

DIVISION OF EAGLE-PICHER
INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent

RECCMMENDATION OF EEARING PANEL

Upon considerztion of the full record in this matter,
the Hearing Panel recommends that the attached Findings of
Fact, Conclusions of Law, Opinion, and Order be adopted and

entered by the full Pennsylvaniz Human Relations Commission.

BY:
. / N - !
January 24, 1983 - ;ima,fi,fhjﬁ7/ L"T'/T/(#/./
DATE ELIZABETH M. SCOTT Chalrperson
~, Jn‘ T ‘- .
. d // _/ / ——
January 24, 1983 jxkfj: ’,‘;‘-r,_gf_'“?’
DATE J CHN WISNIEWSKI Commissioner
 :J*, %_ .
January 24, 1983 ' e \«‘

DATE RITA CLARK Commissioner




COMMCNWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
EXECUTIVE OFFICES
PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

VICKIE L. MILLER,

Complainant

e

vs. : DOCKET NO. E-14454

QHIO RUBBER COMPANY,
DIVISION CF EAGLE-PICHER
INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent

FINAL ORDER

AND NOW, this 2nd day of February , 1983, the

Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission hereby adopts the

~fdregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of law, and Opinion,

in accordance with the Reccmmendation of the Hearing Panel,

. and therefcre

CRDERS:

1. That Respondent Ohio.Rubber Co. cease and desist
from discriminating on the basis of sex in the provision of
employee disability benefits;

2. That Respondent pay tc each of the following
individuals the amount designated followilng the individual's
name, plus interest of six per éent (6%) per annum, calculated

from the last day of each individual's disability leave as




specified in the Stipulations of Fact:

a. Vickie L. Miller - $1500.00
b. Patricia A. Henry - 1500C.00
¢. Connie Miller - 1200.00
d. Sharon H. Blood - 170.00
e. Carol Hoagland - 610.00

f. Judith Schneider - 1500.00

Payment shall be by chegk payable to each individual and
delivered in care of Michael Foreman, Esquire, Assistant
General Counsel, Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission,
1lth Flcor, State Office Building, 300 Liberty Avenue,
FPittsburgh, PA 15222, | .

3. That Respondent provide the Commission with satis-
factory written proof_of compliance with the fterms of this
Order within thirty days of the date found on the Order,

PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

- !
-

BY- N T e /L d”‘“‘[{:"!/
JOSEFH X. YAFFE, Chairperscn

ATTEST£ , s

/

_/7 o
1 i/ 77’/75/ Qz”;?7?7“
ZAB%E& M SCOTT, Secretary
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